FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/19/2018 2:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> Supreme Court No. 96096-8 Court of Appeals No. 76653-8 -I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD THOMPSON, Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

STEVEN T. LYNCH, Defendant/Counterclaimant/Appellant, and DOES 1-30, Defendants

APPEAL FROM THE KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT The Honorable Veronica Alicea Galvan, Trial Judge

DEFENDANT/COUNTERCLAIMANT/APPELLANT'S AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW WITH APPENDIX

<u>NOTES</u>

NOTES

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Steven T. Lynch, Counterclaimant and Appellant, (hereinafter "Mr. Lynch") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated below.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Mr. Lynch seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's judgment, filed April 30, 2018, 2018 Wash.App. Lexis 1033 (Division One, 2018).¹

Mr. Lynch's appeal challenges the trial court's interpretation of the language of written agreements and resulting findings.² Appellate review is *de novo*.³ The

¹ A copy of the slip opinion is reproduced in the Appendix, Appendix pages A-23 to A-25. Mr. Lynch moved for reconsideration. Reconsideration was denied by order entered June 7, 2018. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is reproduced in the Appendix, page A-26.

² A copy of the transcript of the trial court's oral findings n is reproduced in the Appendix, pages A-3A through A-A-16. A copy of the trial court's post trial email to counsel is reproduced in the Appendix at pages A-17 through A-22.

³ See Washington Federal v. Gentry, 179 Wash.App. 470, 490, 319 P.3d 823 (Division One, 2014), review granted,

appellate panel felt that "substantial evidence" was the standard. Slip Opinion, page 2. We respectfully disagree.

This Court should grant review, enter an order (with or without an opinion) vacating the 3-page decision of the panel, and remand the case to the panel for decision on the merits under RAP 1.2(a). Undersigned counsel complied with the rules in arranging for the record for *de novo* review. RAP 9.2 (a), (b). and (c).⁴ Undersigned counsel acted in good faith. *See* RAP 9.10.

Had opposing counsel asked for additional portions of the transcript, undersigned counsel would have arranged for the same, as required by the rule. RAP 9.2(c). Opposing counsel made no request.

If this Court or the panel on remand feels that the testimony of witnesses from the bench trial is necessary,

180 Wash. 2d 1021, affirmed and remanded, Wash. Fed. v. Harvey, 182 Wash.2d 335, 340 P.3d 846 (2015).

⁴ Appellant filed and served a statement of arrangements pursuant to RAP 9.2(c) setting forth the issues and advising that a partial verbatim report of proceedings had been prepared. In this appeal, appellant provided the transcript of the trial court's oral decision interpreting the written agreements, the clerk's papers, and trial exhibits, which included the agreements at issue.

undersigned counsel will supplement the report of proceedings.

The relief requested here would fulfill the remedial purposes of RAP 9.10. It would promote justice and facilitate the decision of this case on the merits. RAP 1.2(a).

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Mr. Lynch urges the Court to grant review on one or more of the following issues:

(1) Whether the standard of appellate review of a trial court's interpretation of the language of the written agreements is *de novo* or "substantial evidence".

(2) If the standard of review is *de novo*, whether an appellant must provide a complete verbatim report of proceedings of trial testimony in a contract interpretation case under RAP 9.2(a) and (b), even though the respondent does not object to appellant's statement of arrangements for a partial transcript under RAP 9.2(c).

(3) If the standard of review is *de novo*, whether an appellant must provide a complete verbatim report of proceedings of trial testimony in a contract interpretation case under RAP 9.2(a) and (b), even if the respondent does

not file a designation of additional parts of the verbatim report of proceedings under RAP 9.2(c).

(4) Whether an appellant's filing of a statement of arrangements in compliance with the provisions of RAP 9.2
(a) and (c), as well as submission of the clerk's papers, exhibits and transcript of the trial court's findings, constitutes *prima facie* evidence of good faith as that term is used in RAP 9.10.

(5) If evidence of an appellant's good faith is present, whether an appellate court should ordinarily permit the supplementation of the record if needed to permit a decision on the merits, as provided for in RAP 9.10, rather than dismiss the appeal or affirm.

(6) If evidence of an appellant's good faith is present, whether the appellate court should liberally interpret the provisions of RAP 9.10 in light of RAP 1.2(a) and permit supplementation of the record in order to promote justice and facilitate a decision of the case on the merits.

(7) Whether the panel's affirmance of the judgment without reaching the merits was supported by "compelling circumstances where justice demands" as required by RAP 1.2(a).

(8) Whether Mr. Thompson's action was a "suit required to collect on the promissory notes" under the parties' written

Buy-Sell Agreement, where Mr. Lynch, not Mr. Thompson, was the beneficiary of the notes.

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

This is a dispute over the amount of funds owed to defendant/counterclaimant/appellant Steven Lynch. Mr. Lynch is the founder and majority owner of an underground utilities business, STL Inc., and CRS LLC.⁵ In 2003, 2004 and 2005, Mr. Lynch received pay/draw checks which were timely ledgered in the ordinary course of business and reported on tax returns. The plaintiff, Mr. Lynch's business partner, knew of the disbursements. He received similar checks himself.

Years later, in 2014, plaintiff Thompson falsely claimed, for the first time, that Steve Lynch was not entitled to five draws he had earned and received years earlier (2003, 2004 and 2005) when he founded the company and kept it going. This meritless lawsuit followed.

Mr. Lynch timely answered Mr. Thompson's complaint and asserted a counterclaim. CP 1-24, 25-33. At trial, agreements signed by the parties and the contemporaneous

⁵ Hereinafter "STL", "CRS" and/or "the business".

business records demonstrated that Mr. Lynch was correct. Nonetheless, the trial judge erroneously ruled in favor of Thompson as to three of Mr. Lynch's pay/draw checks. This appeal was timely filed. CP 153-166.

This is a documents case. Four key agreements were signed by the parties: (1) the "Action by Unanimous Consent of the Shareholders", CP 19-22, Defense Exhibit 112, Pl. Ex 6; (2) the \$170,000 promissory note to Mr. Lynch, CP 17, Defense Trial Exhibit 122, Pl. Ex.2; (3) the Buy-Sell Agreement, CP 10-16, Defense Trial Exhibit 123, Pl. Ex. 1; and (4) the Addendum A, CP 23-24, Defense Trial Exhibit 112, Pl.Ex.6.

The business check ledger gives us the contemporaneous record of transactions. Exhibit G to the *Documents Declaration*, CP 79-86; Defense Trial Exhibit 125.

These documents tell the story. As the trial court noted: "The agreements speak for themselves." RP (3-2-2017) 4, line 14.

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED

1. <u>Issue One: De novo review</u>. Our appeal is based upon the language of the agreements between the parties and

the contemporaneous business records. The legal principles and standard of review were recently summarized by this Court as follows:

This court reviews de novo a trial court's interpretation of the language of a contract. [footnote citation omitted]

• • • •

Courts focus on the "objective manifestations of the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the parties." [footnote citation omitted].

"[W]hen interpreting contracts, the subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the actual words used." [footnote citation omitted]

This court does not "interpret what was intended to be written but what was written." [footnote citation omitted].

Washington Federal v. Gentry, 179 Wash.App. 470, 490, 319 P.3d 823 (Division One, 2014), review granted, 180 Wash. 2d 1021, affirmed and remanded, Wash. Fed. v. Harvey, 182 Wash.2d 335, 340 P.3d 846 (2015). The cases cited in the footnotes above in Gentry, 179 Wash.App. at 490, are incorporated by reference herein as though fully set

forth.

In its "findings of fact" and "conclusions of law" the trial court rewrote the terms of the agreements between the parties.⁶ This was beyond its authority. *Gentry, supra*; *Butler v. Caldwell*, No. 48931-3-I, 2002 Wash.App. LEXIS 622, *1, *11 (Division One, 2002). We properly assigned error to the "rewriting" findings and conclusions. We explained the defects therein in our opening and reply briefs.

Our challenge to the trial court's findings/conclusions is not a "sufficiency of the evidence" challenge. The panel's importation of the "sufficiency" issue into this case is error.⁷ It demonstrates that this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). The panel decision conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals holding that review of the construction of a contract is *de novo*. *See Gentry*, *supra; Knipscheid v. C-J Rec*, 74 Wash. App. 212, 215, 872 P.2d 1102 (1994).

⁶ The order contains an interchangeability provision for the "findings" and "conclusions". ¶19, CP 149.

⁷ None of the cases cited by the panel on page 2 of its slip opinion involve an appellate challenge to a trial court's interpretation of a written business agreement, as does our case. None of them discuss the *de novo* standard of review in such cases. None of them are apposite.

The decisions of this Court seem to go in different directions. *See, e.g.*, the discussion in *Hearst Commens Inc. v. Seattle Times*, 154 Wash.2d 493, 501-504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). This Court has often granted review to discuss the rules of contract interpretation. Our case seems to be a clear case where the trial court interpreted the language of the agreements to make its decision. Period. The clarity of the record makes this case a good one in which to declare a clear rule. The number of appellate contract interpretation cases demonstrates that this is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Under the agreements, Mr. Lynch should prevail. STL issued a promissory note to Mr. Lynch in the amount of \$170,000, "an amount equal to the excess value of *equipment and cash heretofore paid, loaned or contributed by Lynch* to STL."⁸

This language did not cover the three pay/draw checks issued (Nos. 2832, 3213 and 3737) because they were not

⁸ Action by Unanimous Consent Agreement, ¶ 1, page 1, CP 19, Defense Trial Exhibit 121, Pl. Ex 3; Exhibit A to the Documents Declaration of John Muenster (hereinafter "Documents Declaration"), CP 45(italics supplied).

reimbursements for "equipment or cash heretofore paid, loaned or contributed" by Mr. Lynch.

The trial court erred by construing the Action Agreement to limit the total Mr. Lynch could receive, for any reason, to \$170,000. *See* RP 5, lines 5-25; RP 6, lines 1-12. By doing so, the trial court rewrote the agreement. This was error.

2. <u>Issues Two, Three, Four and Five: Good Faith</u> under RAP 9.10.

As authorized by RAP 9.2(c), undersigned counsel filed and served an Appellant's Statement of Arrangements advising that a partial report of proceedings had been ordered. The statement provided in pertinent part:

Pursuant to RAP 9.2(c), Appellant plans to present the following issues to the Court of Appeals for its consideration:

This contractual dispute between two former business partners was tried to the Superior Court sitting without a jury. The case concerned several documents signed by the parties and entries in the business check ledger made more than a decade ago. The words used in the documents are plain on their face. Despite this clarity, we believe the trial judge created her own erroneous interpretations of the documents in her ruling. We respectfully contend that the trial judge erred. *Appellant's Statement of Arrangements*, May 4, 2017. We served and filed a copy of the report of proceedings on June 13, 2017.

Under the rule, if Mr. Thompson wished to add to the verbatim report of proceedings, he had the opportunity to file and serve on all other parties and the court reporter or authorized transcriptionist a designation of additional parts of the verbatim report of proceedings and file proof of service with the appellate court, within 10 days after service of the statement of arrangements. RAP 9.2(c). He did not do so.

As discussed above, *de novo* review of this documents case by this Court is appropriate. The "findings" by the trial court are not entitled to deference. This is not a "sufficiency of the evidence" appeal. It is a contract interpretation appeal. No additional transcript is required.

Undersigned counsel complied with the rules in arranging for the record. RAP 9.2 (a), (b). and (c). Had opposing counsel asked for additional portions of the transcript, undersigned counsel would have arranged for the same, as required by the rule. RAP 9.2(c). Undersigned counsel relied on these facts going forward.

Given these circumstances, the Court should take this case and hold that an appellant's compliance with RAP 9.2(a) and (c) is *prima facie* evidence of good faith for purposes of RAP 9.10. That rule provides:

RAP 9.10 CORRECTING OR SUPPLEMENTING RECORD

If a party has made a good faith effort to provide those portions of the record required by rule 9.2(b), the appellate court will not ordinarily dismiss a review proceeding or affirm, reverse, or modify a trial court decision or administrative adjudicative order certified for direct review by the superior court because of the failure of the party to provide the appellate court with a complete record of the proceedings below. If the record is not sufficiently complete to permit a decision on the merits of the issues presented for review, the appellate court may, on its own initiative or on the motion of a party (1) direct the transmittal of additional clerk's papers and exhibits or administrative records and exhibits certified by the administrative agency, or (2) correct, or direct the supplementation or correction of, the report of proceedings. The appellate court or trial court may impose sanctions as provided in rule 18.9(a) as a condition to correcting or supplementing the record on review. The party directed or permitted to supplement the record on review must file either a designation of clerk's papers as provided in rule 9.6 or a statement of arrangements as provided in rule 9.2 within the time set by the appellate court.

RAP 9.10

RAP 9.10 applies here. Undersigned counsel acted in good faith.

This is an important and recurring issue worthy of this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). In each appeal, appellant's counsel must decide what issues to raise, determine the standard of review, and designate the record accordingly. In this case, it was and is reasonable to conclude that the trial court's decision is one of interpretation of the words of the written agreements. The appellate record was designated accordingly. A decision from this Court on the issue of good faith under RAP 9.10 would benefit the lower courts and appellate counsel.

The appellate panel apparently felt that the entire trial transcript should have been submitted. The panel's opinion is silent as to what, if anything, could be retrieved from the verbal testimony that would pertain to the interpretation of the agreements. As the trial court noted: "The agreements speak for themselves." RP (3-2-2017) 4, line 14.

In this regard, this Court should consider adopting the analysis and holding in *Favors v. Matzke*:

RAP 9.2 requires the party seeking review to provide an appeal record

containing all evidence necessary and relevant to the issues to be reviewed. The responding party, if dissatisfied, may obtain additional parts of the trial record and request that appellant be ordered to pay for same.

The Favorses argue that some testimony, admitted during trial, is missing from the verbatim report of proceedings. However, they are unable to apprise the court of the significance of such missing testimony in relation to the issues on appeal nor have they obtained the additional record as provided by RAP 9.2.

We believe the record submitted contains all evidence necessary for a consideration of the issues raised and that respondents have failed to demonstrate any prejudice from an incomplete record.

Favors v. Matzke, 53 Wash.App. 789, 794, 770 P.2d 686 (1989).

3. <u>Issues Six and Seven: RAP 9.10, RAP 1.2(a)</u> and the resolution of cases on the merits.

RAP 1.2(a) provides:

(a) Interpretation. These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b).

RAP 1.2(a) is one of the most important rules in the book. The commitment of our appellate justice system to decisions on the merits in the absence of compelling circumstances to the contrary must be protected. This case is an excellent vehicle for this Court to provide guidance for practitioners and courts considering RAP 9.10 issues in light of the liberal interpretation policy of RAP 1.2(a).

There were no "compelling circumstances" under RAP 1.2(a) requiring the panel's disposition here.

If the Court (or the panel on remand) feels that the trial testimony is necessary, undersigned counsel will supplement the record with the testimony. The appeal can then proceed to the merits. An opinion by this Court resulting in this outcome would benefit lower courts and counsel. See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

4. Issue Eight: Attorney's Fees

Mr. Thompson's action was not a "suit required to collect on the promissory notes" under the parties' written Buy-Sell Agreement, where Mr. Lynch, not Mr. Thompson, was the beneficiary of the notes.

In our briefing, we assigned error to the trial court's interpretation of the Buy-Sell Agreement to provide for attorney's fees to Mr. Thompson. We argued that Mr. Thompson was not entitled to fees under §3.B.iii of the Agreement. The panel did not analyze §3.B.iii in its decision.

The trial judge erred in its interpretation that "by the terms of Buy-Sell Agreement, Lynch is the defaulting shareholder." Finding of Fact 51, CP 160 (emphasis added). The Buy-Sell Agreement's attorney's fees provision, §3.B.iii, does not apply to Mr. Thompson here.

The Buy-Sell agreement provides in pertinent part as follows:

In the event that suit shall be *required to collect on the promissory notes above referred to*, the defaulting Stockholder or the Corporation shall pay for attorney fees, and court costs, incurred in this action.

Buy-Sell Agreement, §3.B.iii., page 3, Defense Exhibit 123, Pl. Ex.1; Exhibit C to the Documents Declaration, CP 55.

In this case, the phrase "promissory notes above referred to" applies to the \$170,000.00 note from STL, Inc, to Mr. Lynch, described in Section 1 of the Buy-Sell Agreement, and to a promissory note (if any) executed by STL to pay Mr. Lynch \$250,000.00 for his shares of STL.⁹ Mr. Lynch is the beneficiary of the \$170K promissory note. He is the seller of the shares of STL. Mr. Thompson did not bring this lawsuit "to collect on the promissory notes above referred to." Mr. Lynch is not a "defaulting stockholder" under §3.B.iii of the *Buy-Sell Agreement*. The trial court erred in finding otherwise.

As with Issue One, review of the trial court's interpretation of the language of the Buy-Sell Agreement is *de novo. Gentry, supra.* The trial court did not have authority to rewrite the attorney's fees provision.

If the standard of review is otherwise, we request relief under RAP 9.10 to supplement the record on the same grounds as are discussed above. We urge the Court to grant review of this issue. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4)

⁹ See Buy-Sell agreement, Section 1, Section 2.D, and Section 3.B.i.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review, enter an order (with or without an opinion) vacating the 3-page decision of the panel, and remand the case to the panel for decision on the merits under RAP 1.2(a), with supplementation of the record under RAP 9.10, or grant such other and further relief as the Court sees fit.

> Dated this 6th day of July, 2018. Respectfully submitted, MUENSTER & KOENIG

> > By: <u>S/ John R. Muenster</u> JOHN R. MUENSTER Attorney at Law WSBA No. 6237 Of Attorneys for Defendant/Counterclaimant/ Appellant Steven T. Lynch