FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/29/2018 2:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96096-8 Court of Appeals No. 76653-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD THOMPSON,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

STEVEN T. LYNCH,

Defendant-Appellant

and DOES 1 through 30, Defendants.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

CASE NO. 16-2-04736-0 KNT

The Honorable Veronica Alicea Galvan, Trial Judge

PLAINTIFF/RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

DOUGLAS GILL JR., ESQ.
WSBA NO. 41208
SWIGART & GILL LAW OFFICES, P.S.
329 E. Main Street
Auburn, Washington 98002
(253) 939-4556
Doug@swigartlaw.com
Attorneys for Richard Thompson, Plaintiff/Respondent

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES ON REVIEW

Appellant's petition for review asserts that after the trial court made 33 errors in its 51 findings of facts and erred in 12 of its 20 conclusions of law and 4 of its 6 judgment findings were in error, then the Court of Appeals erred in its decision that findings of fact are subject to review for substantial evidence, rather than de novo. Lynch also argues that the Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial court's conclusions of law because he failed to make legal arguments in support of the challenges under RAP 10.3(a)(6) and failed to cite authority and reasoned legal argument, which made the claims insufficient to merit judicial consideration. Joy v. Dep't of Labor & Inds., 170 Wn App. 614, 629, 285 P.3d 187 (2012). Lynch is again trying to argue every part of the trial court and appellate court decisions.

The court did not err in its Findings of Facts Nos. 33, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 39, 34, 36, 37, 38, 42, 40, 41, 1, 2, 5, 12, 14, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24,

46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, Conclusions of Law Nos. 2-11, 14, 15, 18 or in its Findings of Judgment Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the parties to the lawsuit, Lynch and Thompson and two individual companies, CRS Enterprises, LLC ("CRS"), and STL Enterprises, Inc. ("STL"). STL was formed by Lynch in 1997 (Plaintiff's Complaint (hereinafter "Complaint"), CP 19, ¶ 2). CRS was formed in 1999 with Thompson and STL being listed as the only members (Complaint, CP 20, ¶ 3, 141).

A. The Action Agreement

In 2003, the parties executed a document entitled "Action by Unanimous Consent of Shareholders of STL, Inc., a Washington Corporation and CRS, L.L.C., a Washington Limited Liability Company" (the "Action Agreement", CP 19, 141). This document was prepared by Lynch's personal attorney, David Moe. In that document, signed by Lynch and Thompson, it is stated that CRS is owned 51% by STL and 49% by Thompson (Action Agreement, CP 20, ¶ 3, 142). The agreement also states that STL which had previously been owned in its entirety by Lynch was to be now owned 51% by Lynch and 49% by Thompson (*Id.*, ¶

1, CP 142). The agreement established the following ownership of the two entities, which remains the same until the ruling by the trial court:

CRS 51% STL Enterprises, Inc. 49% Richard Thompson

STL 51% Steven Lynch

49% Richard Thompson (Id., ¶ 1, 3).

As part of the Action Agreement, STL was to issue a promissory note in the favor of Lynch in the amount "equal to the excess amount of equipment and cash heretofore paid, loaned, or contributed by Lynch to STL" (Id., ¶ 1, CP 142). It was further agreed that "Since this plan of capital withdrawals from STL was commenced in the year 2002, and is ongoing, the original note balance is calculated to show the amount remaining to be paid" (Ibid.). The Action Agreement further stated that "The original note amount, while subject to calculation and verification as state [sic] in Paragraph 1, above, is estimated to be \$170,000.00 less any capital withdrawals by Lynch from either STL or CRS since December 31, 2002" (Id., ¶ 6).

In addition, the Action Agreement set forth the manner in which Lynch was to conduct his actions regarding CRS and STL. Specifically, it was agreed that Lynch would "act in good faith in exercise[ing] of voting rights (a) in setting amounts of compensation or payment of any benefits shareholders and members of STL and CRS, such compensation shall be reasonable in amount, considering comparable rates paid in the industry for comparable services . . . " (Id., ¶ 8).

The Action Agreement also, effective immediately upon its signing, made Lynch and Thompson the two and only two members of the Board of Directors of STL, and making Lynch the President and Treasurer, with Thompson serving as Vice President and Secretary, to be continued until further agreement between Lynch and Thompson (*Id.*, ¶ 10).

Lynch and Thompson also agreed to execute a Shareholder (Buy-Sell Agreement) at the time of the execution of the Action Agreement (*Id.*, ¶ 11).

B. Shareholder Agreement (Buy-Sell Agreement)

On the same date the Action Agreement was executed, Lynch, Thompson, and STL Executed a Shareholder Agreement (the "Buy-Sell", CP 10, 142-143). This document was also prepared on the behalf of Lynch by his attorney David Moe. Under the Buy-Sell Agreement, it was agreed that the document would not be enforceable until such time as Lynch had been paid in full by STL under the promissory note (Buy-Sell, CP 10, ¶ 1, 140).

The Buy-Sell Agreement noted that Lynch and Thompson own 100% of the outstanding capital shares of capital stock of STL (Id., ¶ 1 Witnesseth). The Buy-Sell Agreement also states that it will allow a departing shareholder to transfer his interest in STL to the remaining shareholder upon either the termination of the shareholder's employment or upon the death of the shareholder (Id. ¶ 1(F), 2).

The Buy-Sell Agreement sets forth an agreed upon price for the capital stock to be purchased from the departing shareholder at \$250,000.00 (Id., \$93(1)).

Under the Buy-Sell Agreement, it was agreed that "so long as any part of the purchase price of shares of capital stock sold in accordance with this Agreement remains unpaid, the Corporation shall not: (A) declare or pay dividends on its capital stock; . . . (D) allow any of its obligations to become in default; . . . " $(Id., \P 5)$.